
 

             AGENDA 
          ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL 

August 15, 2016 
7:00 p.m. 

2nd Floor Council Chambers 
1095 Duane Street  Astoria OR  97103 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

2. ROLL CALL 
 

3. REPORTS OF COUNCILORS 
 

4. CHANGES TO AGENDA 
 

5. PRESENTATIONS 
(a) Oregon Brownfield Award 
(b) North Coast Crisis Resource Center  
(c) Scandinavian Immigrant Park Proposal  
(d) Waterfront Bridges Replacement Project for 6th – 11th Streets 

 

6. CONSENT CALENDAR 
The items on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and will be adopted by one 
motion unless a member of the City Council requests to have any item considered 
separately.  Members of the community may have an item removed if they contact the City 
Manager by 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting. 
(a) City Council Minutes of 7/18/16 
(b) City Council Work Session Minutes of 7/18/16 
(c) City Council Special Meeting Minutes of 7/25/16 
(d) Waterfront Bridges Replacement 6th – 11th Streets ODOT Local Agency Agreement 

Amendments and IGAs for Right-of-Way Services (Public Works)  
(e) Authorize Solid Waste Engineering Consultant Services – Former Astoria Landfill (Public 

Works) 
(f) Addition of Job Title for Schedule F-1 of Salary Resolution No. 16-04 (Police) 

 

7. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
All agenda items are open for public comment following deliberation by the City Council.  
Rather than asking for public comment after each agenda item, the Mayor asks that audience 
members raise their hands if they want to speak to the item and they will be recognized.  In 
order to respect everyone’s time, comments will be limited to 3 minutes. 
(a) Direction for Possible Scandinavian Immigrant Monument to be Located at Peoples Park 

(Parks) 
(b) Ordinance Approving the Assignment of Non-Exclusive Telecommunication Franchise 

from CoastCom, Inc., to Astound Broadband, LLC (1st reading) (Finance) 
(c) Verizon Wireless Leases (Police) 
(d) Resolution Declaring an Emergency and Authorizing the Award of a Public Improvement 

Contract for Street End Bridge Repair Work (Public Works) 
 

8. NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA) 
 
 

THIS MEETING IS ACCESSIBLE TO THE DISABLED.  AN INTERPRETER FOR THE 
HEARING IMPAIRED MAY BE REQUESTED UNDER THE TERMS OF ORS 192.630  

BY CONTACTING JULIE YUILL, CITY MANAGER’S OFFICE, 503-325-5824 



 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 

 
 
 
 
August 12, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF AUGUST 15, 2016 
 
Item 5(a): Oregon Brownfield Award 
 

The City of Astoria has received an Oregon Brownfield award recognizing the 
Astoria Athletic Complex as an outstanding brownfields redevelopment.  The 
Award honors individuals and groups that have implemented innovative, yet 
practical, remediation projects that stimulated economic development through job 
creation or retention, or addressed a critical community development need.  The 
selection criteria for the awards focused on two primary goals: balance of 
economic and quality of life improvements to the local community and significant 
environmental gains.  Each award-winning project highlights one or all of the 
goals associated with the State's brownfields mission:  protection of human 
health and the environment; enhanced collaboration and communication among 
essential partners to facilitate clean-up and reuse; strengthened economic 
marketplace by bringing industrial and commercial brownfields sites back into 
productive reuse; and sustained reuse through redevelopment of brownfields to 
meet and enhance a community's long-term quality of life.  City staff were not 
available to receive the award at the 2016 Oregon Brownfields Conference held 
on May 16th – 17th in Sunriver, Oregon, so our consultant Maul Foster Alongi 
received the award on our behalf. They will be presenting the award to the City at 
the August 15, 2016t City Council meeting. 

 
Item 5(b): North Coast Crisis Resource Center 
 

North Coast Crisis Resource Center Director Warren Zimmerman will discuss the 
facilities and services provided at the Center. 

 
Item 5(c): Scandinavian Immigrant Park Proposal 
 

Loran Mathews and Judi Lampi of the Astoria Scandinavian Heritage Association 
(ASHA) will make a presentation regarding ASHA’s proposal for a Scandinavian 
Immigrant Park and monument proposed to be located at the Peoples Park on 
16th and Marine Drive. 



Page 2 of 6 

Item 5(d): Waterfront Bridges Replacement Project for 6th – 11th Streets 
 

Where each of the City’s numbered streets between 6th and 11th Streets meet the 
Columbia River, a short bridge connects the solid-ground road to the over-water 
pier structure. These waterfront bridge structures are of utmost importance to the 
City as they provide access to a critical portion of our waterfront. They provide both 
pedestrian and vehicular access to many businesses and attractions. In addition, 
they provide essential emergency vehicle access to the waterfront. Currently the 
structures are all load limited.  In September 2014, the City entered into an 
Agreement with ODOT for the design phase of the Project. In April 2015, OBEC 
Consulting Engineers, Inc. (OBEC) was hired by ODOT for provide these services.  
The design phase is now 30 percent complete.  Staff will present an update on the 
project and show the computer rendered photo simulations for 8th, 10th and 11th 
Streets that were prepared by the consultant team.  
 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
Item 6(a): City Council Minutes 
 

The minutes of the City Council meeting of July 18, 2016 are enclosed for review.  
Unless there are any corrections, it is recommended that Council approve these 
minutes. 

 
Item 6(b): City Council Work Session Minutes 
 

The minutes of the City Council Work Session of July 18, 2016 are enclosed for 
review.  Unless there are any corrections, it is recommended that Council 
approve these minutes. 

 
Item 6(c): City Council Special Meeting Minutes 
 

The minutes of the City Council Special Meeting of July 25, 2016 are enclosed 
for review.  Unless there are any corrections, it is recommended that Council 
approve these minutes. 

 
Item 6(d): Waterfront Bridges Replacement 6th – 11th Streets ODOT Local Agency 

Agreement Amendments and IGAs for Right-of-Way Services (Public 
Works)  

 
Where each of the City’s numbered streets between 6th and 11th Streets meet the 
Columbia River, a short bridge connects the solid-ground road to the over-water 
pier structure. The waterfront bridge structures provide access to a critical portion 
of our waterfront. Currently the structures are all load limited.  The City has 
received funding from the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) to replace 
the six waterfront bridges with a 10.27% City match.  In September 2014, the City 
entered into an Agreement with ODOT for the design phase of the Project. In April 
2015, OBEC Consulting Engineers, Inc. (OBEC) was hired by ODOT for provide 
these services.  The design phase is now 30 percent complete.  



Page 3 of 6 

At this stage of the project, it is necessary to authorize the Right-of-Way Services 
task.  This will be accomplished through an amendment to the Local Agency 
Agreement with ODOT to authorize the funds for this task and an Intergovern-
mental Agreement for Right-of-Way Services that states the requirements for this 
task.  The stewardship agreement between ODOT and the Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA) requires ODOT’s Right-of-Way Section authorization to 
perform right-of-way activities when Federal Funding is involved. 

 
Right-of-way activity is expected to occur adjacent to each of the waterfront bridge 
structures.  The Agreement Amendments provide $232,029 in LHBP funds with a 
City match of $36,971 for a total Right-of-Way Services cost of $360,000.  A 
breakdown of these costs per waterfront bridge structure is shown below: 

 
Street End HBP Funds City Match Total Cost 

6th Street $53,838 $6,162 $60,000 

7th Street $53,838 $6,162 $60,000 

8th Street $53,838 $6,162 $60,000 

9th Street $55,633 $6,367 $62,000 

10th Street $55,633 $6,367 $62,000 

11th Street $50,249 $5,751 $56,000 

TOTAL $323,029 $36,971 $360,000 
 

These costs have been included in the overall project cost presented to the City 
Council over the past two years.  Surface Transportation Program (STP) 
allocations will be used for the match.  It is recommended that Council authorize 
the six Intergovernmental Agreements for Right-of-Way Services and the six 
Local Agency Agreement Amendments with ODOT to secure funding for the 
Waterfront Bridges Replacement Projects and also approve the proposed City 
match for the Right-of-Way Services.   

 
Item 6(e): Authorize Solid Waste Engineering Consultant Services – Former Astoria 

Landfill (Public Works) 
 

The Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) issued the former 
landfill closure permit to the City on December 10, 2015.  The permit outlines 
post-closure tasks that must be completed by various deadlines.  Staff has asked 
the City’s solid waste consultant, Maul Foster & Alongi, Inc. (MFA), to provide a 
scope of work to assist us with the work required up to June 30, 2017 (the 
current fiscal year).  Tasks to be completed are identified in the memorandum.  
The work in the amount of $23,560.00 will be funded through the Sanitation 
Fund.  It is recommended that City Council execute a contract with Maul Foster 
Alongi for a total not-to-exceed amount of $23,560.00 for solid waste engineering 
services for the Landfill Closure Project. 

 



Page 4 of 6 

Item 6(f): Addition of Job Title for Schedule F-1 Salary Resolution No. 16-04 (Police) 
 

This memo proposes the creation of a temporary position of Assistant to the 
Emergency Communications Manage, in order to meet immediate needs related 
to the dispatch center.  It is anticipated that the duration of work will be 
approximately six months.  The position would be a temporary, non-benefited 
position under City personnel policies (no medical; no earned paid leave); the 
position would not perform the duties of either a Records Specialist or a 
Communications Officer, and would perform a new set of duties as described in 
the memorandum, to include the creation of job duties for a new position of 
Operations Supervisor.  This temporary position would assist the Emergency 
Communications Manager, Jeff Rusiecki, in special projects which otherwise 
cannot be accomplished as timely as needed.  This temporary position would 
bridge the period until the Center is able to create a job description, recruit and 
hire a full-time Operations Supervisor. The Operations Supervisor position has 
been budgeted, funded and approved by Users, and we plan to move forward 
with recruitment and selection once a permanent position is created and 
approved by the City Council.  As a rule, hours will not exceed 29 per workweek 
(seven day period Monday through Sunday), or a cumulative total of 1,000 per 
year.  If the requirements of a particular workweek exceed 30, they will be offset 
on a flex basis in other weeks, and, some work may be performed on a tele 
commute basis. 

 
Before a position can be posted, the creation of a job description was required to 
identify the essential duties, expectations, required experience and education as 
well as to review the current marketplace establishing appropriate salary range to 
fulfill the current requirements of the City. It is proposed Schedule F-1, Range 2, 
be utilized and step determined based on the experience and education of the 
candidate. Funds are included in the approved budget for FY2016-17 to 
accommodate the addition of this temporary position.  Job recruitment and offer 
would commence should Council approve the description as noted in the 
memorandum and salary schedule range at the August 15th meeting.  It is 
recommended that the City Council approve the addition of the Job Title/duties 
and use of Schedule F-1, Range 2, as contained in Salary Resolution No. 16-04. 

 
REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Item 7(a): Direction for Possible Scandinavian Immigrant Monument to be Located at 

Peoples Park (Parks) 
 

Earlier in the meeting representatives from the Astoria Scandinavian Heritage 
Association will make a presentation regarding the proposed Scandinavian 
Immigrant Park and Scandinavian Immigrant Monument.  Parks and Recreation 
Director Cosby’s memo accompanying this agenda item details the history of the 
Peoples Park.  The memo also reviews the Park and Recreation Advisory 
Board’s discussion and recommendation that ASHA would need to include not 
only fundraising for construction, but also for the monument’s ongoing care and 
maintenance.  The Parks and Recreation Advisory Board unanimously agreed to 



Page 5 of 6 

recommend the Scandinavian monument project to the City Council contingent 
upon a formal park adoption agreement.  Therefore, it is recommended that 
Council consider the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board’s recommendation 
and direct staff to prepare an agreement with ASHA following adoption of an 
Adopt-A-Park program.  Both the Adopt-A-Park program and ASHA agreement 
would be brought back to Council for consideration. 

 
Item 7(b): Ordinance Approving the Assignment of Non-Exclusive Telecommunica-

tion Franchise from CoastCom, Inc., to Astound Broadband, LLC (1st 
reading) (Finance) 

 
Ordinance 16-03 was approved March 21, 2016, granting a franchise to 
CoastCom, Inc., for operation of telecommunications facilities within City rights-
of-way.  The ordinance: 

 
• Requires COASTCOM, INC. to pay a fee to the City equal to 7.0% of 

the gross revenue earned within the City 
• Provides procedures for amendment and renewal of the franchise. 
• Imposes certain reporting requirements. 

 
Astound Broadband, LLC has entered into a purchase agreement with 
CoastCom, Inc. to acquire the assets and operation of CoastCom, Inc. Matt 
Updenkelder, Vice President of Operations for CoastCom, Inc. has requested 
City Council consider assignment of the CoastCom franchise to Astound 
Broadband, LLC.  Included in this packet is an Ordinance approving the 
assignment of a non-exclusive telecommunication franchise. The documents 
have been reviewed and approved as to form by City Attorney Blair 
Henningsgaard.  It is recommended that City Council conduct the first reading of 
the proposed ordinance. 

 
Item 7(c): Verizon Wireless Leases (Police) 
 

At the July 5, 2016 meeting, draft leases were presented for the Verizon Wireless 
project at Reservoir Ridge and a lease extension at Coxcomb.  Council indicated 
they believed the terms were supportable.  These leases were returned to 
Verizon Wireless (VZW) for inclusion of two items listed in the memorandum 
presented that night. Additionally, the Council nondiscrimination policy was 
included in the contracts. 
 
Verizon Wireless has signed the two leases with the terms presented to the 
Astoria City Council at the July 5th meeting.  In addition they have provided a 
right of way easement for Pacific Power to provide power to the facility.  The 
leases presented then, and now for signature, are in keeping with the guidance 
set out during the March 21, 2016 work session regarding the wireless 
communications facility at Coxcomb, Staff has negotiated a new lease with 
Verizon Wireless (VZW) for the site at Reservoir Ridge.  The terms of the lease 
are favorable to the City in value of construction and use of tower for our 



Page 6 of 6 

communication needs.  For the term of the lease, there are no monthly payments 
for lease.  The negotiations resulted in two leases.  These leases are for the 
Coxcomb and Reservoir Site both of which have been reviewed and approved as 
to form by City Attorney Henningsgaard.  With the previously proposed and now 
adopted amendments, the highlights of the leases are in the memorandum 

 
In addition, an easement to Pacific Power is also included to provide electrical 
service to the Reservoir Ridge site.  City Attorney Henningsgaard has asked for 
some changes to the easement document including clarification where the line 
would be placed in the respective tax lots and with language regarding waiver of 
a right to jury trial.  Staff will work with Pacific Power to address these issues.  It 
is recommended that Council authorize the Mayor and City Manager to sign the 
leases with Verizon Wireless for facilities at Coxcomb and Reservoir Ridge and 
the Pacific Power right of way easement, contingent on resolution of the City 
Attorney’s requested changes.   

 
Item 7(d): Resolution Declaring an Emergency and Authorizing the Award of a Public 

Improvement Contract for Street End Bridge Repair Work (Public Works) 
 

The City of Astoria has six timber street end structures at the north ends of 6th, 
7th, 8th, 9th, 10th and 11th Streets that are inspected annually by the Oregon 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) Bridge Department. ODOT inspects the 
structures and makes recommendations for repairs that will permit the structures 
to safely remain open. Without the identified repairs, the structures could be 
recommended for closure to both vehicular and trolley traffic by ODOT staff.  A 
repair strategy was developed by OBEC and was designed to be limited to only 
what has been deemed absolutely essential in order to minimize the expenditure 
of funds prior to the upcoming planned replacement of the structures and to 
assure trolley operations. 
 
Staff solicited quotes for the repair work and received two quotes that exceeded 
$100,000: Bergerson Construction, Inc. for $196,799 and Columbia Dockworks, 
Inc. for $152,950. Columbia Dockworks is not prequalified with ODOT; therefore, 
considered a non-responsive quote and removed from consideration. The only 
responsive quote was received from Bergerson Construction (who is ODOT 
qualified) in the amount of $196,799.  At the time of this Council memo 
preparation, Staff and OBEC are in the processes of negotiating with Bergerson 
Construction to reduce the total cost of this contract through value engineering 
and alternative repair approaches at specific locations. The contract with scope 
of work, including the final contract amount, will be presented at the Council 
meeting along with a project budget. It is recommended that funds be provided 
for this project by the Capital Improvement Fund, which may require a budget 
amendment at the end of the fiscal year.  It is recommended that the City Council 
adopt the Resolution declaring an emergency and award the public improvement 
contract for the Street End Bridge Repair Project to Bergerson Construction, Inc. 

 



Scandinavian Immigrant Park Proposal 

The Astoria Scandinavian Heritage Association is the non-profit partner of the Astoria Scandinavian 
Midsummer Festival Association.  
 

The Mission of ASHA is preserve traditional Scandinavian culture and  heritage through educational 
opportunities in areas of customs, language, food and the arts and to educate the citizens of Clatsop County 
and surrounding areas about the culture and heritage of the Scandinavian countries. 
 

City of Astoria: According to the 1910 census there were 9599 inhabitants in Astoria and 35 % of the 
population identified as Scandinavian. The proposed Scandinavian Immigrant Park will honor the immigrant 
tradition that brought thousands of Scandinavians to Oregon’s North Coast in the late 1800s and early 1900s. 
It will be erected in a public space to make locals and visitors aware of the ethnic heritage that contributed 
immensely to the fabric of our community. It will honor families that said their last good-bye in Scandinavia 
and moved to Astoria to become Americans. The park will educate locals and visitors about the City’s rich 
history that has been influenced by its citizens from Scandinavia.  
 

The proposed Scandinavian Immigrant Park will fill a need mentioned in the City of Astoria Parks and Rec 
Master Plan for more urban plaza space.  ASHA intends to work with Parks and Rec throughout the planning 
process to gain their input and approval for the design.  The proposed park is NOT a new park but an 
enhancement to a current park already under Parks and Rec jurisdiction. 

  Footprint of proposed park enhancement 

Street View from Marine Drive Sample of Bas-relief Sculpture 

The proposed park is at the site of the former 
People’s Park on Marine Drive between 15th and 
16th. The park is bordered on the north by the 
Astoria Trolley tracks, the River Walk, and the 
Columbia River. Marine Drive is on the south and 
the park is close to the Welcome to Astoria sign 
and the Columbia River Maritime Museum.  The 
park will be visible, accessible, and welcoming. 
 
Details and more information are available at: 
       www.fromscandinaviatoastoria.org 





  

Page 1 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 18, 2016 

CITY OF ASTORIA      CITY COUNCIL JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS  
City Council Chambers 
July 18, 2016 
 
A regular meeting of the Astoria Common Council was held at the above place at the hour of 7:16 pm. 
 
Councilors Present: Nemlowill, Herzig, Warr, Price, Mayor LaMear 
 
Councilors Excused: None 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Estes, Community Development Director Cronin, Planner Ferber, Parks and 
Recreation Director Cosby, Finance Director Brooks, Fire Chief Ames, Police Chief Johnston,  Public Works 
Director Cook, and City Attorney Henningsgaard. The meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC 
Transcription Services, Inc.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS ON AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 
This item was added to the agenda during the Work Session. 
 
Mayor LaMear announced that because the Affordable Housing Work Session went so long, there was no time 
for citizen input, so City Council agreed to take citizen input on affordable housing at this time. She called anyone 
interested to come forward. 
 
Jennifer Cameron-Lattek said she and her husband own Street 14 Café on 14th and Commercial. She thanked 
Council for addressing housing issues, and encouraged Council to continue the conversation. The tourism 
industry in Astoria is growing right now and that means lower wage jobs. Her staff has problems finding 
affordable housing. She did not have the answer, but was excited to hear ideas and see the community figure 
out a solution. She pays her employees as much as she can and appreciates the tips her employees receive. 
However, paying as much as possible sometimes means she must charge higher prices for products. When 
prices go up, the community is then paying for good wages. She wanted everyone to recognize that part of the 
reality, too. 
 
Mayor LaMear confirmed there were no further comments and convened the Astoria City Council meeting. 
 
Mayor LaMear called for a moment of silence for all of the recent killings across the country. 
 
REPORTS OF COUNCILORS 
 

Item 3(a): Councilor Warr had no reports. 
 
 Item 3(b): Councilor Price reported that over the last several weeks she struggled with the events in 
Baton Rouge, Dallas, Nice, and Saint Paul. She was grateful to find grace in conversations with family, friends, 
and colleagues. She thanked those who step up, take part in the community, and find commonality among 
diverse views. She also thanked Chief Johnston for having a social media presence that speaks to the 
community. 
 
 Item 3(c): Councilor Herzig had no reports. 
 
 Item 3(d): Councilor Nemlowill reported that on her way to the Council meeting, she saw many 
people assembled at the Garden of Surging Waves. She wondered if they were participating in a protest or rally, 
but learned they were playing Pokémon Go. 
 
 Item 3(e): Mayor LaMear announced her appointment of Michelle Tompkins to the Parks and 
Recreation Board. Ms. Tompkins has extensive experience in library, recreation, and parks management and 
administration. 
 
Mayor LaMear read the following statement: 
 



  

Page 2 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 18, 2016 

“These days, I think all of us dread picking up a newspaper or turning on a news broadcast to find out that 
there has been another mass killing and an ever increasing number of victims of gun violence. The horror, 
sadness, fears, and feeling of helplessness is a human reaction to what seems incomprehensible. It 
doesn’t matter if you are for gun rights or for stricter gun control. As human beings, we share these 
feelings of horror, sadness, fear, and helplessness. Would a gun resolution make any difference? Do 
letters to the editor and posts on social media help address the problem? I don’t know. But, I do know that 
I must do something. We must do something to put a stop to this madness. I’ve written a letter to our 
congressional delegation, which I am planning to post as a large ad in the Daily Astorian. I’m paying for 
this as a private citizen. If you would like to sign the letter, I have sheets for you to sign, giving permission 
to add your name to the letter to be published in the Daily Astorian.  
 
Here is the letter: 
Honorable Governor Kate Brown, Senators Ron Wyden and Jeff Merkley, Congressional Representatives 
Suzanne Bonamici, Greg Walden, Earl Blumenauer, Peter DeFazio, and Kurt Schrader, 
 
The City of Astoria joins with other communities in mourning the losses from mass killings around our 
country, but thoughts and prayers are no longer enough. We must act to put an end to this madness that 
is eroding our sense of safety, our sense of community, and our sense of pride in being an American.  
 
The Astorians and those from neighboring communities who have signed this letter support the rights of 
individuals to own firearms for hunting and for their own protection, but urge you to work diligently to ban 
high capacity magazines and assault weapons. Make it illegal for someone on a no-fly list to obtain a 
weapon. Approve universal background checks and make funding for mental health services a national 
priority. 
 
Thank you for all your efforts to make our communities and our State a safe place to live and raise our 
children and grandchildren. 
 
Sincerely, 
Arlene LaMear, Mayor 
City of Astoria 

 
Councilor Herzig thanked Mayor LaMear for making such a brave statement. 
 
CHANGES TO AGENDA 
 
The agenda was approved with the addition of Public Comments on Affordable Housing, Item 7(f): McClure Park 
Grant Resolution, and Item 7(g): Authorization to Submit Request for Qualifications for Building Code and Code 
Enforcement Services. 
 
PROCLAMATIONS 
 

Item 5(a): 90th Anniversary and Rededication of the Doughboy Monument 
 
Mayor LaMear read the proclamation declaring July 21, 2016 as the 90th Anniversary of the Doughboy 
Monument. She noted that the Astoria Column was also celebrating its 90th birthday this year. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
The following items were presented on the Consent Calendar: 

6(a) City Council Minutes of 6/20/16 
6(b) Boards and Commission Minutes 

(1) Library Board Meeting of 5/24/16 
6(c) 2016-2017 Ready to Read Grant Application (Library) 
6(d) Promote Astoria Funds – Agreement for Professional Services with Astoria/Warrenton Chamber 

of Commerce (Finance) 
6(e) Promote Astoria Funds – Agreement for Professional Services with Astoria Downtown Historic 

District Association (ADHDA) 



  

Page 3 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 18, 2016 

6(f) Authorization to Light the Astoria Column a Pink Hue for the Month of October in Recognition of Breast 
Cancer Awareness Month (Parks) 

 
Councilor Herzig requested Items 6(d) and (e) be removed for further discussion. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Warr, seconded by Councilor Price, to approve Items 6(a), (b), 
(c), and (f) on the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, 
Nemlowill, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
Councilor Herzig stated that in both Items 6(d) and (e), the City’s Professional Services Agreement was utilized 
which included the City’s mandatory non-discrimination. He corrected a typo in the phrase “gender Identity 
identity/expression” and asked that the phrase should be changed to the more common usage, “gender identity 
and expression.” This would make the phrase compliant with normal usage and easier to transcribe. 
 
City Manager Estes clarified a vote of the City Council would be required to take that action as a Regular Agenda 
Item. When the policy was created, there was a lot of discussion about the language that should be used. Staff 
can add the topic to a future City Council agenda.  
 
Councilor Herzig requested that Item 7(h): Edits to the City’s Agreement for Professional Services Non-
discrimination Clause be added to tonight’s Regular Agenda Items, since it would not take much time.  
 
Mayor LaMear confirmed there was no reason not to address the language tonight and agreed to add the item to 
the agenda. 
 

Item 6(d): Promote Astoria Funds – Agreement for Professional Services with 
Astoria/Warrenton Chamber of Commerce (Finance) 

 
Councilor Herzig said Promote Astoria Funds going to the Chamber of Commerce was one of the most 
controversial topics. Many Budget Committee members did not believe the Chamber fully complied with its 
contract with the City. Therefore, he wanted the Council to have to take a public vote on the agreement. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Nemlowill, to accept Item 6(d) 
on the Consent Calendar. Motion carried 4 to 1. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Nemlowill, and Mayor LaMear; 
Nays: Councilor Herzig.  
 

Item 6(e): Promote Astoria Funds – Agreement for Professional Services with Astoria 
Downtown Historic District Association (ADHDA) 

 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Price, to approve Item 6(e) on 
the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, and Mayor 
LaMear; Nays: None.  
 
REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 

Item 7(a): Ordinance Adopting Astoria Comprehensive Plan Amendment A16-03 to include the 
Parks and Recreation Comprehensive Master Plan (2nd Reading and Adoption) 
(Parks) 

 
This proposed ordinance received its first reading at the July 5, 2016 Council meeting. The ordinance amends 
Comprehensive Plan Section CP.028.J pertaining to Background Plans and Studies and Comprehensive Plan 
Section CP.275.25 pertaining to Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Element. It is recommended that Council 
conduct a second reading and adopt the ordinance. 
 
City Manager Estes noted the proposed ordinance was recommended by the Parks and Recreation Citizen 
Advisory Committee and Advisory Board, as well as the Astoria Planning Commission. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Price, to conduct the second 
reading of the ordinance amending the Astoria Comprehensive Plan to include the Parks and Recreation 



  

Page 4 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 18, 2016 

Comprehensive Master Plan. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, and 
Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
Director Brooks conducted the second reading of the ordinance. 
 
Councilor Herzig said Astoria really needs this Master Plan. However, many citizens are concerned about the 
potential sale of City park properties. The citizens must be vigilant about ensuring complete transparency if park 
sales move forward because a lot of work went into the Master Plan and adopting the Plan cannot be postponed 
just for that one concern. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Warr, seconded by Councilor Nemlowill, to adopt the 
Ordinance with the Findings and Conclusions contained in the Staff report. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: 
Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
Mayor LaMear read the rules of appeal. 
 

Item 7(b): Trestle and Track Inspection Maintenance – Contract Amendment #2 (Public Works)  
 
The City of Astoria has approximately 4.7 miles of railroad track and eight timber trestles formerly owned and 
operated by Burlington Northern Railroad from the Port of Astoria to Tongue Point. The Astoria Riverfront Trolley 
currently operates on approximately 3 miles of this track, and over four of the trestles. Due to the age of the 
railroad infrastructure, required maintenance has increasing rapidly. 
 
Trestles are inspected yearly to ensure safety. Last fiscal year Council authorized a comprehensive inspection 
contract with OBEC to provide information necessary to maintain proper Trolley operation and plan future 
funding allocation. OBEC has recently provided a report with the following recommendations: 

 
Table 1 – Trolley Infrastructure Maintenance Summary** 
 
Location 

Immediate Maintenance 
Needs 

Annual Maintenance 
Needs 

Trestles West of 39th Street (Active Trolley & River 
Trail) 

$276,000 $233,000 

Trestles East of 39th Street (River Trail & occasional 
service equipment) 

$293,000 $243,000 

Track Maintenance West of 39th Street $0 $43,500 

Totals = $569,000 $519,500 
**Costs shown in this table are based on information presented in Table 1 of the Special Inspection Report “Maintenance 
Needs and Associated Costs” and include contingency and design/construction engineering. 

 
There are three options to consider when looking at balancing usability of the River Trail and Trolley with cost 
effective repairs. 
 
1. No repairs are made. City continues funding minor repairs and inspection. This option is not 

recommended due to the negative effects on trolley operation and impacts to the infrastructure. 
2. All immediate repairs be completed with plans to complete annual repairs. This option is not 

recommended due to cost. 
3. A hybrid approach focusing available funding on maintaining structures and track west of 39th Street 

(active rail) and providing minimal repairs and frequent inspection to ensure safe operations. This is the 
recommended approach. 

 
The hybrid approach would be completed prior to Trolley operations in 2017 at an estimated cost of $319,500. 
Funding for immediate repairs is available in the Capital Improvement Fund; however, a more sustainable 
method of funding the on-going maintenance should be explored. 
 
If Council wishes to pursue a hybrid repair approach, approval for a contingency task in OBEC’s contact is 
needed for Trestle CAD Drawings. The estimated cost for this work is $17,778 and is available in the Promote 
Astoria Fund. 



  

Page 5 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 18, 2016 

 
Table 2 – Contract and Contingency Task Summary 
Task Cost 
Original Special Inspection Contract $37,067 
Contingency Task 1 – 6th & 14th Street Park Inspection $9,963 
Contingency Task 2 – Trestle CAD Drawings $17,778 
Total = $64,808 

 
It is recommended that City Council consider proceeding with a hybrid repair approach for the Trolley/River Trail 
trestles. It is also recommended that City Council authorize Contract Amendment #2 in the amount of $17,778. 
 
Assistant City Engineer Crater explained that OBEC recommended immediate repairs critical to keeping the 
trolley operational in 2017 and annual maintenance repairs needed over the next 10 years. The 
recommendations included planning level cost estimates, which were summarized in Table 1 of the 
memorandum. He reviewed the data in the table, the three options considered by Staff, and possible funding 
sources for both types of repairs. He understood that additional inspections would allow the City more time to 
complete the Street-Ends Repair Project, which originally had to be complete by August 1st. 
 
Councilor Herzig asked if the hybrid approach would satisfy ODOT’s safety requirements for the trestles. 
Engineer Crater said yes and explained that ODOT does not actively regulate structures, so this is the City’s due 
diligence. Astoria has been given flexibility on the repairs and timeline on this project because it is not regulated 
by ODOT, but ODOT Rail will ask for a copy of the report. This hybrid approach will not impact funding for the 
Street-End Repair Project, which will begin prior to the Trestle Repair Project. Staff does not have solid 
information on such a large-scale trestle project, so the Street-End Repair project will help inform the annual 
maintenance repair costs. As the projects move forward, better information will help Staff target funding. 
 
Councilor Price said the immediate repairs on the trestles could be completed before the trolley begins operating 
next year, so the work would be less disruptive than the Street-End Repair Project. She confirmed that Staff 
would look into sustainable funding and present their findings to Council. City Manager Estes added that Staff 
would discuss the necessary annual repairs with the Trolley Association and consider Promote Astoria Funds 
and other funding revenues. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill believed it was interesting that ODOT inspected the street ends and waterfront bridges and 
said immediate repairs were necessary. The City conducted its own study on the trestles and also found that 
costly immediate repairs were necessary. The situation is unfortunate and ironic. She asked how much the 
annual projected maintenance costs exceeded the budget. Engineer Crater said the hybrid approach would be 
about $276,000 annually. Currently, about $100,000 has been budgeted for the trestles and track maintenance 
in the Promote Astoria Fund. Last year, the City spent a little more than $100,000. He reminded that the annual 
maintenance costs were planning level estimates. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill said during the budget hearings, Promote Astoria Funds were discussed the most. She 
believed the funds should be streamlined to uphold the Riverwalk and trolley. The Chamber and the Lower 
Columbia Tourism Committee do a great job, and visitor spending in Astoria is anticipated to be $100 million this 
year. She was not suggesting that any money be taken from the Chamber or the Lower Columbia Tourism 
Committee, but she believed they should receive a percentage of lodging taxes. The City should streamline the 
fragmented funds and use the Promote Astoria Fund for Riverwalk maintenance, including the trestles, trash 
collection, and mowing. 
 
City Manager Estes said if Council authorizes Staff to move forward with the computer-aided designs, firmer cost 
estimates could be developed and used to draft a proposal for the necessary work. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Nemlowill to authorize Contract 
Amendment #2 in the amount of $17,778 with OBEC and approve the hybrid repair approach for the 
Trolley/River Trail trestles. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill and 
Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 



  

Page 6 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 18, 2016 

Item 7(c): Liquor License Application from Joshua Allison, dba Reach Break Brewing Located 
at 1343 Duane Street for a New Outlet for a Brewery Public House License (Finance) 

 
A liquor license application by Joshua Allison doing business as Reach Break Brewing, located at 1343 Duane 
Street, Astoria. The application is for a New Outlet for a Brewery Public House License. The appropriate 
departments have reviewed the application and it is recommended that Council consider approval. 
 
Councilor Price said tremendous improvements have been made to the property. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill declared a potential conflict of interest, as her husband owns a brewery in the vicinity. She 
did not believe this was a direct conflict, so she would vote. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Warr to approve the liquor 
license application has been filed by Joshua Allison for a Brewery Public House License. Motion carried 
unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 

Item 7(d): Liquor License Application from Charles Holboke, dba Charlie’s Chop House Located 
at 1313 Marine Drive for a New Outlet for a Full On Premises Sales Commercial 
Establishment License (Finance) 

 
A liquor license application has been filed by Charles Holboke, doing business as Charlie’s Chop House, located 
at 1313 Marine Drive for a New Outlet for a Full On-Premises Sales Commercial Establishment License. The 
appropriate departments have reviewed the application and it is recommended that Council consider approval. 
 
Councilor Herzig said on this and the last application, both Applicants made the same error. He did not believe 
the form was clear and hoped the Oregon Liquor Control Commission (OLCC) would clarify where to write the 
name of the business on the form. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill declared a direct conflict of interest and said she would abstain from voting. The Applicant is 
a client of her husband’s brewery, Fort George Brewery.  
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Warr to approve the liquor 
license application by Charles Holboke for a New Outlet for a Full On-Premises Sales Commercial 
Establishment. Motion carried 4 to 0 to 1. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None; 
Abstentions: Councilor Nemlowill. 
 

Item 7(e): Resolution Supporting the City of Astoria’s “Coast Guard City” Recertification 
Application (City Council) 

 
The City of Astoria was originally designated as a Coast Guard City on May 1, 2011. In order to retain this 
designation, every five years the City is required to submit an application for recertification as a Coast Guard 
City. The application will be reviewed by the Coast Guard City Board in September 2016 and, if approved, the 
City’s status will be renewed for another five-year term. Jerry Ostermiller assembled the original application and 
is again assisting the City with this recertification process. It is recommended that Council adopt the resolution 
supporting the recertification application in order to retain its Coast Guard City status. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Nemlowill, seconded by Councilor Herzig to adopt the 
resolution supporting the recertification application in order to retain its Coast Guard City status. Motion carried 
unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 

Item 7(f): McClure Park Grant Resolution 
 
This item was added to the agenda during Item 4: Changes to the Agenda. 
 
City Manager Estes noted a copy of the resolution was available at the dais. 
 
Director Cosby said on May 2nd, City Council authorized Staff to apply for an Oregon Parks and Recreation Small 
Communities Planning Grant. The grant application requires a resolution and a 40 percent match. Grant funds 
will be used to help implement the first phases of the Park and Recreation Master Plan that Council just adopted. 



  

Page 7 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 18, 2016 

Site plans for Shively Park and McClure Park will be developed. The 40 percent match would be $16,000 cash 
from the Capital Improvement Fund and $11,000 of in-kind Staff time. 
 
Councilor Price said she has lived on 12th and Jerome for 20 years and did not know about the park for a long 
time. The neighborhood adopted the park and it became very prominent in the Parks Master Plan. It is a 
wonderful neighborhood park with views of the city and ship traffic. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Nemlowill to adopt the resolution 
authorizing staff to apply for grant funds to develop site plans at McClure Park and Shively Park and provide a 40 
percent match as recommended by staff. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, 
Nemlowill and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 

Item 7(g): Authorization to Submit Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for Building Code and Code 
Enforcement Services 

 
This item was added to the agenda during Item 4: Changes to the Agenda. 
 
City Manager Estes stated a memorandum was available at the dais and explained that the Community 
Development Department has been working to hire a new Code enforcement officer and building official. Staff 
conducted interviews last week and learned that none of the applicants would be able to serve the City in this 
capacity. A contractor could provide more consistent long-term services over time. 
 
Director Cronin said on May 2nd, Council authorized a contract with the Building Department LLC, which expires 
at the end of July. This contract was meant to fulfill the City’s needs until a building official/Code enforcement 
officer could be hired. Since none of the candidates will work for Astoria, he is requesting Council authorize a 
procurement process to hire a third-party consultant. The contractor could be hired for the interim so that the 
building official/Code enforcement position could remain open until filled. Right now, the market for building 
officials is very tight, so he planned to consider increasing the salary to make the position more competitive. If 
Council authorizes the RFQs, they would be due next week so that Council could consider the contract on 
August 1st and prevent a gap in services. 
 
City Manager Estes added that the scope and services would include Code enforcement that is above and 
beyond what is being provided now. Currently, Community Development Staff have been dealing with Code 
enforcement, but Staff needs additional assistance. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill asked if Staff explored other options, like working with the County building official and 
offering a separate Code enforcement position. She believed a building official would be more difficult to recruit 
because they need more education and experience. City Manager Estes replied the salary is the issue. The 
County’s building official earns about $25,000 to $30,000 a year more than Astoria’s salary range. Director 
Cronin added the County is interested in providing services to Astoria, as they were before. However, just like 
any other contractor, the County must provide the City with a competitive proposal. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill believed it would be ideal to have one person on City Staff to provide the services. Astoria’s 
businesses liked the County building official, so it might be worth charging more for building permits. City 
Manager Estes explained that if the County were not willing to provide the Code enforcement services, the City 
would need money from the General Fund to hire an enforcement officer. 
 
Councilor Herzig asked if the motion before Council will give Staff the leeway to explore all the options. 
 
City Manager Estes replied Staff was seeking authorization of the instruments of the Request for Qualifications. 
He confirmed no separate Council action would be needed if the City can work with the County and hire that 
person. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Price to authorize staff to submit 
a Request for Qualifications for Building Code and Code Enforcement Services. Motion carried unanimously. 
Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 



  

Page 8 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 18, 2016 

Item 7(h): Edits to the City’s Agreement for Professional Services Non-discrimination Clause 
 
This item was added to the agenda during Item 6: Consent Calendar. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Price to amend the non-
discrimination policy by changing the phrase “gender Identity/expression” to “gender identity and expression.” 
 
Councilor Nemlowill asked if the suggested change will result in any issues or is of concern. City Attorney 
Henningsgaard replied because it was the Council’s policy, the language could state whatever the Council 
wanted. Councilor Nemlowill said she did not see the necessity of the change, but she would support it. 
 
Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, Nemlowill and Mayor LaMear; Nays: None. 
 
NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA) 
 
Mayor LaMear read a letter from City Council that will be sent to the Friends of the Astoria Column thanking 
them for the restoration work completed last summer. She thanked Councilor Price for developing the letter and 
noted the Friends had put in a lot of time, money, and energy. 
 
Veronica Montoya, 324 38th Street, Astoria, said she has been a resident for about three and a half years. She 
spends a lot of time out on the docks taking pictures of and documenting the sea lions daily. The tourism 
industry is growing and the tourists love the animals. However, the tourists do not love it when Pacific Marine 
Fisheries is trapping and branding the sea lions in Astoria’s basin. Last year, they decapitated one of the sea 
lions in front of the cruise ship guests. She wanted to know how much the Port of Astoria made on renting the 
space so the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife can trap the sea lions in the middle of town. Between 30 
and 50 animals are branded each day and the animals are distressed for several days afterwards. Residents 
from Alderbrook to the museum must listen to the animals crying in pain. It is not fair that half of the city must 
suffer because of the small amount of money the Port makes by renting out the little space. Having this in the 
heart of the city is not good. With the sea lions being such a big tourist attraction, she believed the Port should 
be encouraged to stop this practice in the middle of the city and allow the branding at the Bonneville Dam where 
the sea lions are trapped and killed. She has hours of video tape of the animals being quiet until Oregon 
Department of Fish and Wildlife shows up in the morning, scaring them off the docks and trying to fill their traps 
with animals to be branded. She understood this was a complex problem, but it is important for Astoria’s guests 
to enjoy their visit. 
 
Councilor Price wanted to know if the City has ever asked the Port about this issue. She has seen Ms. Montoya’s 
videos, which are gut wrenching and horrible. However, the trapping and branding is done on Port property. The 
sea lions do a lot of damage to the Port’s docks and prevent people from going to the Port. The Port is a 
tremendous asset in the middle of town, but it cannot be used, which is a tremendous waste. She is not willing to 
give up Port property for the sea lions, but asked if the City had talked to the Port about the possibility of moving 
the trapping and branding to another location, and how inconvenient or impossible that might be. City Manager 
Estes did not believe the topic was discussed at the joint City Council/Port Commission meeting. 
 
Ms. Montoya said she has presented ideas to the Port Commission, including requesting a $1 donation of each 
person who comes to see the sea lions. People would be more than willing to donate to the animals. In Astoria, 
up to 3,000 people come to see the sea lions each day. 
 
Councilor Price did not believe the conversation should be continued at that time or that charging money to get 
the sea lions in and continue to make the East Mooring Basin unsuitable for boats is not the answer. She 
thanked Ms. Montoya for her comments and said she would discuss the matter with Staff after the meeting. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:17 pm. 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
              
Finance Director City Manager  



  

Page 1 of 3  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 18, 2016 

CITY OF ASTORIA      CITY COUNCIL JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS  
City Council Chambers 
July 18, 2016 
 
A work session of the Astoria Common Council was held at the above place at the hour of 6:00 pm. 
 
Councilors Present: Nemlowill, Herzig, Warr, Price, Mayor LaMear 
 
Councilors Excused: None 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Estes, Community Development Director Cronin, Planner Ferber, Parks and 
Recreation Director Cosby, Finance Director Brooks, Fire Chief Ames, Police Chief Johnston,  Public Works 
Director Cook, and City Attorney Henningsgaard. The meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC 
Transcription Services, Inc.  
 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING STRATEGY— PROGRESS REPORT (COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT) 
 
The City Council held a special work session on September 14th to discuss the Affordable Housing Study that 
was completed by the Community Development Department in support of the City Council’s goal setting for 
FY14-15/15-16. At the word session, Staff presented background information, a Draft Problem Statement, case 
studies, and a range of short term and long-term solutions to create more housing opportunities in Astoria. The 
City Council directed Staff to study the options in more detail and bring potential solutions back for review as part 
of an overall housing strategy. On November 2nd, Staff presented an affordable housing strategy based on 
comments received at the work session. Over the last six months, Staff has implemented various aspects of the 
strategy. 
 
It is recommended that Council review and consider endorsement of the Affordable Housing Strategy. It is also 
requested that Council provide feedback on the Code amendments. If there are portions of the Code that 
Council has concerns about, direction as to inclusion or removal should be provided prior to the Planning 
Commission hearing being rescheduled. 
 
Director Cronin gave a presentation on proposed Code amendments that promote affordable housing, reviewed 
the Affordable Housing Strategy Progress Report included in the agenda packet, and next steps. During the 
presentation, he and City Manager Estes answered Councilors questions about existing and proposed Codes, 
presented case studies, and explained how the proposed Code amendments would promote affordable housing. 
City Manager Estes confirmed Council’s feedback would be forwarded to the Planning Commission before their 
public hearing. 
 
Councilor Herzig recommended Council direct Staff to research Senate Bill 1533, regarding construction excise 
taxes. Councilor Price added that Council should also consider system development charges (SDCs). Staff 
answered questions about SDCs in other jurisdictions and said a lot of research would be necessary if Council 
wanted to consider implementing the charges. 
 
Councilor Herzig said he was opposed to allowing an additional floor on residential buildings because the public 
has indicated they prefer to protect view sheds. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill believed the proposed Code amendments were too aggressive. Astoria needs more 
housing, but not at the expense of quality of life. She doubted the proposed amendments would improve the 
housing situation and recommended that only Codes pertaining to accessory dwelling units (ADUs) be amended 
at this time. 
 
Councilor Price agreed, but believed ADUs should fall under the Type 2 permitting process. However, she 
believed the proposed changes to administrative procedures were good. Some of the proposed Code 
amendments would only be appropriate in certain areas of the city, not citywide. She recommended a more 
lengthy public process, one similar to the model used to develop the Parks Master Plan. She also wanted to see 
how the proposed Codes would likely impact population growth over the next 10 and 20 years. 
 



  

Page 2 of 3  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 18, 2016 

Councilor Nemlowill was interested in the City working with affordable housing partners to develop City property 
and asked how the City would move forward with such a partnership. Staff explained that housing providers, like 
Clatsop Community Action (CCA), would lead a project, seek funding, and ask the City to authorize a 
partnership. Sites owned by entities that are not in a position to develop could be marketed to private and non-
profit developers. City-owned properties that would be appropriate for affordable housing developments can be 
identified using the inventory created two and a half years ago for the City’s former land sales project. 
• Councilor Herzig agreed the City should be proactive about letting developers know the City has properties it 

wants developed for affordable housing. 
• Councilor Price said the Community Action Team had offered to help the City find funding for up to 12 

derelict houses or abandoned properties. Staff confirmed the vacant house registry contains 36 houses, but 
the Community Action Team has not had the money to move forward. Councilor Price believed repurposing 
existing buildings was better than building new. 

 
Councilor Herzig recommended the minimum lot size required for development be reduced. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill believed Astoria should require that 20 percent of multifamily housing units be workforce 
housing. This could be funded by the excise tax. She said it was critical for the City to identify City-owned 
properties suitable for affordable housing. If the Recreation Center services were consolidated into an expanded 
Aquatic Center, the Yacht Club property could be used for housing. Then, the City would no longer be 
responsible for maintaining the building. She also believed a comprehensive countywide housing plan should be 
pursued. 
 
Councilor Warr agreed that the Yacht Club property should be considered excess and sold. The property is 
surrounded by many apartments and putting apartments on the property would not be a problem. However, if the 
City is going to insist on affordable housing, it will have to find a way to make the project profitable for a builder.  
 
Councilor Nemlowill believed selling the property at a market rate price would allow a builder to build market rate 
housing. The City could also offer incentives, like a lower price, property tax abatements, or property payment 
deferments. Astoria has a lot of service industry workers and seafood processors that make low wages and may 
need subsidized housing. Astoria also has many people who work for the Coast Guard and in the medical 
industry. Therefore, an entire building may not need to be subsidized, but it would be great if the City were 
involved in at least a portion of a housing development. 
 
Councilor Warr said he agreed, but was concerned about the responsibility of the City of Astoria to provide 
people with housing. He believed housing should be market based and explained that if employers cannot find 
employees at the wages they are willing to pay, wages will have to increase, or the businesses will have to move. 
Many citizens believe they own their view, so it will be very difficult to consider Astoria as a mecca for affordable 
housing. Additionally, he did not believe affordable housing was the City’s responsibility. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill said she understood and added that there are a limited number of subsidies offered by the 
State anyway. However, subsidized housing happens to be a good business for some developers. 
 
Director Cronin noted that the City is having this discussion now because the private market is not working. 
Astoria’s housing partners, builders, and investors are not producing any housing right now. He explained that 
the State now allows inclusionary zoning, which allows the City to mandate a certain percentage of affordable 
housing. However, the City would have to offer funds, tax breaks, or some other incentive. 
 
Councilor Price said these issues need much longer conversations because there are so many unanswered 
questions about how to solve the problems. Mayor LaMear agreed. City Manager Estes confirmed Staff would 
present revisions to the Planning Commission based on City Council’s feedback and another work session 
would be scheduled with City Council to continue this discussion and learn more about construction excise 
taxes. 
 
Mayor LaMear said she also wanted information on SDCs. City Manager Estes explained that SDCs are a 
funding mechanism for Public Works and are not related to affordable housing. He requested that a separate 
work session be scheduled to discuss SDCs. Staff agreed to provide Council with a list of SDC amounts charged 
by other jurisdictions. Councilor Warr also wanted information on how much those jurisdictions are charged to 
provide infrastructure. 



  

Page 3 of 3  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 18, 2016 

 
Councilors discussed whether to allow public comments. Time was running late, but many people attended the 
work session. City Council decided to take comments during the regular session. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:09 pm to convene the regular Astoria City 
Council meeting. 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
 
              
Finance Director City Manager  



  

Page 1 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 25, 2016 

CITY OF ASTORIA      CITY COUNCIL JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS  
City Council Chambers 
July 25, 2016 
 
A special meeting of the Astoria Common Council was held at the above place at the hour of 7:00 pm. 
 
Councilors Present: Nemlowill, Herzig, Warr, Price, Mayor LaMear 
 
Councilors Excused: None 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Estes, Community Development Director Cronin, Planner Ferber, Parks and 
Recreation Director Cosby, Finance Director Brooks, Fire Chief Ames, Police Chief Johnston,  Public Works 
Director Cook, and City Attorney Henningsgaard. The meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC 
Transcription Services, Inc.  
 
HERITAGE SQUARE/LIBRARY LOCATION – NEXT STEPS 

 
BACKROUND 
The City Council adopted a FY15-16 goal to investigate locating the Astoria Public Library as part of a mixed-
use project within Heritage Square, an almost 1.5 acre site in downtown Astoria. On December 7, 2015, the 
Astoria Development Commission heard a presentation from City staff and the City's consultant Walker I Macy 
and Hacker who provided initial architectural design, basic "order of magnitude" cost estimating, and a 
financing strategy. On January 12, 2016, the City Council held a work session to discuss various options for 
moving forward. Based on this discussion, staff received direction on two paths: evaluate the current cost 
estimate for Heritage Square to understand potential cost savings, and develop more information (including 
architectural concepts and cost estimates) on the options for expansion at the current library location. This 
would facilitate an "apples to apples" comparison of the universe of options to help decide the future of the 
library. On May 25, 2015, the City held an open house at the Astoria Library prior to a joint meeting of the 
Library Board and City Council. The design team provided an overview of six options to consider, four options 
on expanding the current library and two options at Heritage Square. The Council agreed to meet again to 
discuss the various options but no other decisions were made at this meeting. 
 
PROCESS 
At the last work session, staff received feedback from Council to develop a more comprehensive financial 
analysis that includes funding sources while using the latest cost estimate for budgeting purposes. The 
purpose of this memo is to summarize the most recent public process, review the evaluation of the six options, 
and provide a basic financial analysis for planning purposes. In the lead up to the open house on May 25, and 
the scheduled debrief at City Council on July 25, City staff has attended the following meetings and events: 
• ADHDA General Meeting - May 6 
• 94.3 "Hits" Radio - May 17 
• American Legion Post No. 12 - May 23 
• Library Board - April 26, May 24, & June 28 
• KMUN Radio: "Talk of the Town" - May 25 
• Sunday Market - June 5 
• Kiwanis Club - June 7 
• Rotary Club - June 13 
 
In addition, staff did direct outreach to other organizations including the Lower Columbia Hispanic Council, 
Astor/Lewis & Clark Parents Club, Lower Columbia Preservation Society, and Astoria Visual Arts. 
 
The open house was attended by over 100 people and materials subsequently remained in the library for a 30-
day comment period. Staff received 178 survey responses. Attached is a summary of the open house survey 
responses, including location preferences and general comments. Based on the public comment responses, 
Option C was the top choice with both Heritage Square options as the runner-ups. Materials illustrating the 
options are attached as well. 
 
The Library Board met on June 28 to consider the technical merits of the various options. The Board selected 
a new library at Heritage Square. The Library Board's written recommendation is also attached. 



  

Page 2 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 25, 2016 

 
Finally, staff developed a basic project estimate using the latest construction cost estimate as the basis and 
two financial models fill a funding gap. These are high-level estimates that utilize many assumptions and will 
change as the project evolves through the design process. 
 
NEXT STEPS 
The Council should select a site before any further work can be done on this project. Once Council selects an 
option, further design work will provide more refined cost estimates. However, the latest cost estimates 
provide adequate information for the site selection phase. 
 
Staff developed a few key threshold questions for the Council to consider when making a decision on the 
future of the library. Staff comments are added to provide context only. 

• What is the overreaching goal that Council is trying to achieve? 
The FY 15-16 Goal to evaluate Heritage Square is complete. However, the overall project goal has not 
been clearly defined. A goal statement can help narrow the choices and delineate the core issue. 

• Is this a short term or long-term goal? 
A short-term goal can be achieved over a shorter period of time (<5 years) using limited funding. 
Conversely, a long-term goal can be achieved over an extended period (+5 years) but requires more 
patience in finding funding sources. 

• Is the Council wishing to allocate and secure the necessary funds to renovate or build a new library? 
The City has limited capital improvement funds with increasing demands on antiquated infrastructure 
assets. With limited funds, tough choices need to be made to budget for the project still knowing that 
other sources of funds (bond, loan, and/or capital campaign, etc.) will be needed. 

• What is more important: location or other competing issues such as funding?  
In order of priority, the Council can select a site and direct staff to develop a funding strategy. OR 
The Council can weigh the preliminary financial analysis and use it as tool to make a site selection. 

 
It is recommended that the City Council consider the six options for moving forward and provide direction 
regarding implementation of the City Council Goal associated with the Astoria Public Library. 

 
City Manager Estes briefly reviewed the memorandum in the Staff report.  
 
Kate Summers, Library Board Chair, presented the Library Board’s recommendation, which was included in the 
Staff report. 
 
Councilor Herzig asked why the Library Board stated they had no preference between Options E and F, but only 
presented their reasons for supporting Option E. Ms. Summers explained Option F includes additional housing 
and the Board has assumed the library options would be the same for both Options. She agreed their reasoning 
supported Options E or F. 
 
Mayor LaMear asked each Councilor to indicate their preferred Option. 
 
Councilor Price reminded the original goal was to consider Heritage Square as an option for a library, with or 
without housing. She also believed the goal was to provide Astorian’s and their visitors with an inviting, 
accessible, free, sustainable, diverse, and enduring source of knowledge. Everyone agrees that the Astoria 
Library has lacked the facilities and resources to support that goal for many years now. She found it interesting 
that the Library Board recommended an option that would make citizens wait as much as five or ten more years 
before realizing that goal. Their recommendation only represents their own point of view, but it is Council’s job to 
take a much broader view. The City and its citizens have limited funds to support Astoria’s eight departments, 
the city attorney, and the municipal court. City Council has the final say about how those funds are spent. The 
library has recommended an option estimated to cost $11 million, not including furnishings, additions to the 
catalogue, equipment, operational expenses, etc. With the $2.8 million from the City and $1 million from the 
Foundation, $8 million would have to be raised from outside sources. She posed the following questions for 
consideration: 

• Who will investigate and apply for loans?  
• What impact would a multi-year fundraising effort have on Staff?  
• What impact would a bond measure have on our taxpayers?  
• What impact would a bond measure have on our goal to find at least a few units of affordable housing? 



  

Page 3 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 25, 2016 

• Would bond measures be required for other departments in the future? The earliest a measure could be 
added to the ballot is November 2017.  

• What happens if the bond measure fails?  
• How would loan payments affect the General Fund’s ability to meet other needs?  
• How might costs rise over the years to fund and complete a new building? In the three years since the 

Metz Study of 2013, estimated costs have tripled. 
• What impact would a much larger building have on utility costs? 
• What is sustainable operationally? 
• Could a library that is doubled in size offer the additional programs to go with that space with only the 

current Staff? 
• Where is the money for furnishing, technology, or books? 
• What about the promise to citizens made during fundraising for the Garden of Surging Waves? The 

Garden was promised to be Phase 1 of a three-phase plan to provide an urban square in downtown.  
• What about the hundreds of people who donated more than $500, including Art DeMuro who donated 

$200,000 on his death bed, to complete the project? 
• What about the sentiment at the groundbreaking of Heritage Square when Mayor LaMear said, “I think 

there will come a day when we will look back on this day and think was there ever a time when we didn’t 
have a Heritage Square in Astoria?” 

• What about the majority of people who, during the Walker-Macey presentation last fall, rejected building 
in Heritage Square and said they preferred Heritage Square be a public space with a plaza and parking? 

• What about the Sunday Market, which would be displaced by building at Heritage Square? 
• What about the current library building? Should the City find a new use for the building before starting on 

a new building elsewhere? 
• What about the Safeway hole and the cyclone fencing in the middle of downtown that citizens and 

visitors have lived with for six years now. 
• She believed the Library Board’s recommendation goes well beyond the needs of a library and Astoria’s 

vibrant community. Astoria has a rich and diverse range of hubs, centers, and spaces that offer equally 
diverse and accessible activities. The City would be duplicating services and activities that are provided by 
mature, long-standing non-profits and businesses. Instead of competing, the City should be partnering with 
those non-profits and businesses. She suggested a partnership with the County for use of the Boyington 
Building, which is right across the street and very well appointed for lectures, talks, and storytelling for 
children She also suggested partnerships with the Performing Arts Center, Astoria Event Center, Lovell 
Showroom, Baked Alaska, Clatsop Community College, KMUN, Maritime Museum, or the school district. 
She appreciated that the Library Board wants to go for the gold, but she could not see the wisdom in their 
recommendation. She would not vote to encumber Astorians with the financial burden or the timeline for 
such a grand plan. She believed the Senior Center was a model for aligning goals with resources. The 
Senior Center was in bad shape on the outside, but had good bones. In two years and with $1.7 million, the 
Senior Center was transformed. The same could be done for the library. She wanted to concentrate on 
essential library services that only a public library can provide, use money on hand to match the 
Foundation’s fundraising, and completely renovate just the main floor of the existing building. She wanted an 
open, inviting, technologically advanced facility with partnerships that provide additional space for other 
activities. There is room at the Yacht Club and in the basement for storage during renovations. A few spaces 
downtown could be leased to provide bare essential services during the renovations. This option fits the 
City’s budget, the taxpayer’s wallets, Staff resources, the citizen’s library needs as defined by the Library of 
Congress, fits the Comprehensive Plan, and is compatible with other goals like affordable housing and with 
needs like bathrooms on the Riverwalk. This option is also sustainable, does not compete with private 
businesses or organizations, may inspire a developer to come forward with concrete plans for the Merwyn, 
and allows the City to make a whole downtown at Heritage Square. 

 
Councilor Warr believed Astoria should do what it can afford and sustain. Currently, the City cannot adequately 
take care of its parks because there is not enough money in the General Fund. Many responsibilities were 
added without adding anything to the budget. The City just learned it would have to spend about $300,000 on 
temporary emergency repairs to the street ends and trestles to provide access to the buildings on the water and 
keep the trolley running. Over the next ten years, about $2.5 million will be spent on the street ends. Additionally, 
about $569,000 per year must be spent to maintain the trestles and bridges. Funding is extremely precarious 
right now and the City has demonstrated that the General Fund does not have the money to properly take care 
of the streets, parks, and services. Citizens in the community are very angry about this. His business has 
primarily served Ocean View Cemetery over the last 99 years, so people have concluded that his company owns 



  

Page 4 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 25, 2016 

the cemetery. He hears complaints about how badly the cemetery is being taken care of. There is not enough 
money to do what the community wants, but there is some money provided by the Foundation. The existing 
building could be remodeled, but fundraising to build a library at the scale most people want will take many 
years. He would rather get a remodel done now and accept what the City is able to provide. 
 
Councilor Herzig believed Council’s goal was to build a library of the 21st Century for Astorians to use and enjoy 
for the foreseeable future. The City can decide to build for the 21st Century or for the 20th Century. The City can 
build a building that can be used for generations or renovate a building that will be obsolete before the doors are 
open. He did not believe Council wanted to go backwards. The citizens are uncertain about Council’s direction 
because Council is uncertain. Council has been unable to present a clear and united front to the public and he 
believed Council needed to move forward. The people of Astoria deserve a real, new, fresh library. Council has 
been considering six options and now Councilor Price has offered a seventh that is more reduced than any of 
the other options. The Library Board has recommended Options E or F and he agreed Astoria needed a new 
library. The City needs to build a library for the 21st Century and unfortunately, the current library cannot be 
brought into the 21st Century. Council must answer the public’s questions about parking in the downtown through 
a downtown parking strategy, but the library should not be held hostage to the parking issue, which is completely 
separate. The Metz Study accounted for the need for 18,000 square feet, but the City still needs to prove that a 
librarian on every level is a necessity. The most recent survey done at the library was very well done, but it did 
not track library use. Council does not know if the feedback was from regular library users or people who 
showed up just for the event. The only option that will generate revenue for the City and provide a partial solution 
to the County’s affordable housing problem is Option F. He has spoken to homeless people who have said they 
receive a pension check but cannot afford to rent anything in Astoria. Street 14 Café has told the City it cannot 
hire workers because they cannot find living spaces in Astoria. The City must address this problem because 
market forces created the problem. The concept of building a library at Heritage Square came after the Garden 
of Surging Waves was moved from its original location. The Square was created when people indicated they 
wanted more than one ethnicity represented. There was never a formal proposition and Heritage Square is not a 
fully realized, fully thought through, fully supported concept. He supported Option F. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill said she completely agreed with Councilor Herzig about the community’s vision of Heritage 
Square created in 2004 through an extensive public process. She believed a library would fulfill the community’s 
vision for Heritage Square, be good for downtown and the citizens. The Library Board has selected the best site 
possible for a new library in terms of the Needs Assessment. However, the cost of building a new library is too 
much and she was convinced that there would not be enough community support to cover the costs. 
 
Mayor LaMear read the following statement: 

“Discussion and planning for renovation or building of a new library have been going on for many years now. 
Meanwhile, the current library continues its decline. We need to make a decision on siting of the library so we 
can move forward. The Library Board has made the recommendation to build a new library in Heritage Square. 
This recommendation was not made in a vacuum. It was based on studies, surveys, interviews, and 
community meetings. These are the reasons I concur with the Library Board’s recommendation. I believe in 
the axiom form follows function. This, in essence, means that you can construct or renovate a building after 
you have determined the functions or uses of that building. The studies, surveys, interviews, and community 
meetings have identified the elements we want in a 21st Century library. If we build a new library, we can 
design it so it works for everyone and responds to the desires of our citizens. If we try to cobble two buildings 
or use the basement, it will be like trying to put a square peg in a round hole. The other options we have before 
use require building a two-story library. I am going to refer to an article by the Seattle Public Library addressing 
the reasons why a single-story library is much preferred: 
• Movement of materials, a second floor in a library greatly increases the distance that materials must be 

carted, wheeled, and carried to deliver the expected level of library service.  
• Security and support, in the interest of safety, libraries must be laid out to provide direct supervision in all 

public areas. This includes the entrance and lobby, the public meeting rooms, restrooms, and the 
collections. For safety reasons, the library requires that two staff members be present at all times. It is 
likely that this approach would have to be duplicated with a second story. Access to children’s materials 
should be near adult areas of the library so parents can supervise their children while looking for their 
own books.  

• Costs, the capital expenses of building a two-story library are increased by the need for an elevator, exit 
stairs, and additional services that would need to be duplicated on each level, such as restrooms and 
staff workspace. In addition, the annual operating costs of a two-story library are significantly greater 



  

Page 5 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 25, 2016 

than a one-story facility. The study shows that in a 10,000 square foot library, it comes out to about 
$400,000 a year. Add that up and you have the cost of building a library.  

• Disruption of library services, renovating or building a two-story building would lead to a relocation of 
materials and disruption of services. We can continue to use our current library during construction if we 
build in Heritage Square without any disruption of services.  

• In 2004, there was a block design and redevelopment study of Heritage Square that showed a public use 
concept gained the most support. The idea was for a possible library, public meeting rooms, a plaza, and 
parking. The Safeway and American Legion block was renamed Heritage Square with idea that we would 
honor the various heritages that make up our community. Libraries are repositories of our heritage. What 
better place to put our library than in Heritage Square.” 

 
Mayor LaMear called for public comments. 
 
Larry Allen, Astoria resident, said the Senior Center is a jewel in the town. After moving from a fabulous location 
on the bay, the Senior Center realized that being located near Heritage Square in downtown Astoria was 
important. Their membership has grown like crazy. Everything did not go as initially planned and funding did not 
happen. However, getting the Senior Center did not require the consensus of the City Council. This does not 
seem to be true for the library. The city would not have a Senior Center if a consensus were required. Heritage 
Square is the most important piece of property left in the city. There are so many unknowns and so many costs, 
but after years of working with city planning departments, he has learned that the longer the project is delayed 
the more the costs will increase. Heritage Square needs to be the centerpiece of the city and the library should 
be at the center of town. 
 
Maurie Hendrickson, American Legion Executive Board member, said the Legion would like assurance that 
there will be no effort to remove them from the building. Astoria’s Post 12 has been selected to host the State 
Convention in 2019, which will be the 100th anniversary of the American Legion. This means income for local 
businesses. 
 
Jeff Jacques, 539 McClure, Astoria, said he has lived in Astoria since 2009 and pays his property taxes every 
year. As a library user, he listens to audio books on his phone and understands the importance of a good library 
in town. However, he agreed with Councilor Price that there are many costs involved with building a new library. 
A bond measure would be needed to make up the $8 million shortfall, so most Astorians would pay $200 per 
year more in property taxes. He believed Council did not really know what the project would cost and what the 
City would pay for. As a taxpayer, he agreed with what Councilor Warr said about the parks and streets. He was 
sure the City did not have unlimited funds. He believed more due diligence needed to be done on the costs of 
remodeling the library. He asked how many estimates the City received for remodeling the library. He believed 
$7 million seemed like a lot to refurbish the building and asked if the City really investigated the costs of 
remodeling it. He also wanted to know what would happen to the empty building if the library relocated. He 
hoped the Library Board and Staff understood that he wanted a good library, but they should reconsider asking 
the taxpayers for the money when there other things in town that really need to be addressed. 
 
Sylvia Davis, 2775 Steamwhistle Way, Astoria, said she believed a library is extremely important for a town. If 
the economy goes down or other problems arise, people have a library to get CDs and DVDs for free. The 
cemetery should not be mentioned because the library is a separate entity. The City has no idea what it will run 
into at the Merwyn or at the existing library building. She believed the library should be the most important thing 
inside the city limits. She did not know how the money would be raised, but believed it could be done if the City 
really wanted a library. She supported a new library at Heritage Square. 
 
Paxton Hoag, 1786 Jerome, Astoria, said the City should provide modern library services to Astoria and contract 
for high-speed wireless internet services free for the entire town. He moved to Astoria in 1954 and remembered 
when the current library building was built. The building was really nice, but is now out of date. He agreed with 
Councilor Price that the building should be fixed up because that is what the City can afford. The Metz Study 
indicated that if Option A were chosen, the building could provide the space needed for everything mentioned in 
the study. He did not believe the City could afford a new library and he wanted to see Heritage Square kept 
open. Having an open square is one of the most important things in a community because people can gather, 
like at the Sunday Market. He also believed the Safeway lot should be developed as a small amphitheatre, which 
had already been suggested by survey respondents. He was dismayed to see the dirt moved, but understood it 



  

Page 6 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 25, 2016 

was contaminated. An amphitheatre would not cost much. He concluded keep Heritage Square open and 
redevelop the library in its current location. 
 
Dulcye Taylor, 856 11th Street, Astoria, said she was a member of the Citizens Advisory Committee for the 
library. The Committee was tasked with making a recommendation on behalf of the citizens, but the Committee 
was unable to make a decision. Many people love the library. The Metz Study was very informative, but there 
were citizens who wanted an open space. Astoria needs a library, but she did not believe the City could afford 
one. In 2004, when the Garden of Surging Waves was proposed, Councilor Herzig and Mayor LaMear may not 
have agreed with the proposal, but the citizens were sold a bill of sale for that space to be Heritage Square. She 
agreed that a library has tons of heritage, but she is very visual so she sees the garden, the arch, the fish lamps, 
and the sidewalk with heritage along it. Visitors will not spend a lot of time in the library; they will look at what 
Astoria is made of. Citizens might go read about the heritage, but visitors want to be outside, walking the streets, 
and see what is going on. Parking needs to be addressed. If a library is put in Heritage Square, it will take up a 
lot of space and parking will be needed for library patrons. This will leave no parking for library staff or visitors 
downtown. She wanted the existing library to be renovated via any option that keeps the costs down. City Hall 
was recently renovated and brought into the 21st Century and it is beautiful. Therefore, doing the same with the 
library is not impossible. 
 
Mayor LaMear stated she believed Council should make a decision now because this discussion has been 
ongoing for about eight years. 
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Mayor LaMear, seconded by Councilor Herzig, to build a new library in 
Heritage Square. Motion failed 3 to 2. Ayes: Mayor LaMear and Councilor Herzig; Nays: Councilors Nemlowill, 
Price, and Warr. 
 
Mayor LaMear said she was very disappointed because choosing any option other than building a new library in 
Heritage Square was moving backward instead of forward. This project is so important and Council does not 
want it derailed or delayed if a bond issue fails. She and most library professionals agreed that a single-story 
library building is much preferable to a two-story building. Therefore, she wanted to eliminate Option A, which 
uses the library basement, and Options C and D, which extend into the Merwyn Hotel and would result in the use 
of two levels. Additionally, the main levels of the library and the Merwyn differ by four feet. She would agree to 
vote for Option B to expand into the library parking lot because it would allow the library to remain on one level 
and provide the clear line of sight necessary for safety and supervision. At least some library functions could 
continue during construction. If it were determined that some functions would be feasible in the basement, that 
area would still be available. Part of the City-owned parking lot across the street could be designated as library 
parking. The basement would provide 23,930 square feet, which exceeds the needed space and adds to 
projected costs. Without the basement, the library would have 15,290 square feet of space, which would be 
adequate. The estimated costs for Option B are $6.4 million, which are the lowest estimated costs of all the 
options. She strongly supported a new library at Heritage Square, but she also believed a bond issue might not 
pass so another option is necessary. She did not want to put off a decision any longer. 
 
City Manager Estes clarified the cost estimate for Option B without utilizing the basement was done quickly 
without the cost estimator used to determine costs per square foot. He confirmed the information was not 
included in the agenda packet, as Mayor LaMear had just requested the information earlier that day. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill believed it would cost the same to renovate and expand into the parking lot as it would to 
build a new library at Heritage Square. The amount needed from taxpayers would be the same as well. 
 
Councilor Herzig noted that survey respondents marked Option B as the least popular. 
 
Paxton Hug, 1786 Jerome, Astoria, said Council has decided not to move into Heritage Square, which leaves the 
City with the option of refurbishing the existing building. Option A, Option B, and Councilor Price’s new option 
should be sent back to Staff to determine real cost estimates. 
 
Councilor Price said the City has done a lot of cost estimates and they are aware of other options for using the 
building in various ways. Therefore, she did not believe the City needed to go backwards. 
 



  

Page 7 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 25, 2016 

Councilor Herzig added that the City knows the project will exceed the cost estimates, regardless of the option 
chosen. Relocation of the library during construction will be incredibly costly and difficult on the community and 
staff. Collections could be damaged during transfers. The real costs are unknown, but they will not be small. He 
did not believe the library would ever recover from the effects of being relocated temporarily. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill believed a majority of Council wanted to avoid having taxpayers paying for a new library. 
The Library Board has a very important role. She did not believe there was enough support to raise $8 million for 
a new library at Heritage Square, but she wanted to see what funding strategies the Library Board could come 
up with that did not include a bond measure. 
 
David Oser, 254 W. Irving, Astoria, Library Board Chair, clarified that the Library Board is an advisory board with 
no authority to raise money or staff to direct. Library Board members have expertise and knowledge about how 
libraries operate. The Library Foundation, a 501(c)(3), has no money or plan as it has been waiting on direction 
from the City. So, the figure stated by City Manager Estes was pulled out of the air. Council has considered two 
choices, renovate, or build a new library. However, it appears as if some Councilors are moving towards a third 
choice, to do nothing at all. The existing building does not have the ability to be renovated cheaply. Currently, 
people with any type of disability cannot browse the fiction section, which is located up a staircase. Renovating 
the existing space will significantly reduce the already inadequate space. There have been decades of deferred 
maintenance in the building. The water cannot be used, the HVAC systems are shot, and the building will require 
moving everything out for an extended period of time. In the long run, renovation will be as costly as building a 
new library. 
 
City Manager Estes noted the options to build a new library had been eliminated. He recommended Council 
narrow down the options to renovate, including Mayor LaMear’s revised version of Option B. He confirmed Staff 
understood Council did not want to burden the taxpayers. 
 
Councilor Price reiterated the City should do what it can with the money it has. A complete renovation can 
completely transform a space with new plumbing, new electrical, new technology, and everything new. A 
renovation will not give everybody everything and will require many compromises. She believed Council should 
consider the only two options that will not require a bond. She was also concerned about the Library Foundation 
because it was inactive for over a year because City Council had not made a decision. The Foundation was 
formed after the Metz Study and knew that the study recommended use of the basement or the Merwyn. The 
Foundation has had a lot of time to do something and the previous City Council adopted Option B of the Metz 
Study. All this time has gone by and the Foundation cannot tell Council whether grants are available. 
Additionally, foundations raise money for operational funds, not for building funds. The Library has asked for an 
$11 million edifice, but the Foundation has stated it can only raise less than 10 percent of that. This is contrary to 
what libraries in every other city has done. There are a lot of needs and ideas, but no one has ever said, “I will 
bring that money to the table.” If someone makes an offer now, she might change her mind about how to move 
forward. Otherwise, her choice is stay within the City’s means. The only two options on the table are the Mayor’s 
suggestion and a complete renovation of the main floor. 
 
Councilor Herzig did not believe the Foundation should be blamed for what is Council’s fault. It is not possible for 
the Foundation to receive funding for a library that will be built somewhere someday. He apologized to the 
Foundation for the outrageous statement. Councilor Price reiterated that the Foundation did nothing for 12 
months after a decision had been made. Councilor Herzig added that Council has failed to give the Foundation a 
clear directive. 
 
Maurie Hendrickson, P.O. Box 1392, Astoria, suggested the City write a grant proposal to the Bill and Melinda 
Gates Foundation for Option C. 
 
Mayor LaMear said the City has looked into using the Merwyn Hotel, but there are many obstacles. The City 
does not own the property and the estimates to renovate the hotel are about $5 million, which would be in 
excess of work done on the library. Keeping the library on one level is critical because a two-story library costs a 
lot more to maintain and operate. There are also issues with the Historic Preservation Society that wants to keep 
the hotel building as historic. 
 
Jeff Jacques, 539 McClure, Astoria, asked how many contractors bid on the options and where the contractors 
were located. He believed $7 million was a lot of money for the amount of work needed. Contracting costs are 



  

Page 8 of 8  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  July 25, 2016 

not expensive. As a taxpayer, he wanted to know where the cost estimates came from and what was involved. It 
seems difficult to move forward without any money or grants. 
 
City Manager Estes explained that the options are not projects that could be bid by contractors. The cost 
estimates were prepared by cost estimators and architects who have developed concepts. All of the options for 
renovation included an expansion of some sort, which accounts for the high price tag. 
 
Mayor LaMear believed all of the options would require a bond measure. She suggested Council narrow down 
the options for renovating the library to at least two options. 
 
Councilor Warr said he was astounded by the estimates even though they were developed by professionals. City 
Hall was a complete wreck three years ago and it was renovated for $1.7 million. He asked Staff to explain what 
could run up the price of renovating the library. City Manager Estes said each option included additional building 
area and several options included the addition of an elevator. An elevator was added to City Hall, but there were 
also parts of the building that were not touched. He confirmed the heating and electric systems were upgraded, 
but some of the bathrooms remained untouched. 
 
Councilor Warr understood the options were to increase the space currently available in the library. He asked 
why expansion into the basement, which would require an elevator and additional restrooms, would cost three 
times more than City Hall. City Manager Estes said City Hall was renovated in 2008, during an economic 
downturn when contractors had different bidding prices. He did not know which of the library building’s 
mechanics were different from City Hall. City Hall does not have a forced-air system and it already had a 
radiator. A more efficient boiler was added, but much of the original plumbing remained intact. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill noted Seaside built a new library for less than $2 million. City Manager Estes reminded that 
the cost estimates were planning level numbers that included ranges. The actual costs will be determined by the 
choices made further into the project. 
 
Councilor Warr understood, but he wanted to know how much the City could afford to spend on a library. 
Additionally, he wanted Council to settle on a project and get it done. 
 
Mayor LaMear did not believe any of the Councilors wanted a Taj Mahal for a library. The community is looking 
for electricity that does not have to be turned on at the circuit breaker, water pipes that are not so corroded that 
water has to be brought in, and doors, restrooms, and mezzanines that are ADA accessible. Just to repair these 
very basic things will be extremely expensive. The City has gone around and around, but is doing nothing.  
 
City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Nemlowill, seconded by Councilor Price, to direct Staff to 
develop a funding strategy that does not require a bond measure. Motion passed 3 to 2. Ayes: Councilors Price, 
Nemlowill, and Warr; Nays: Mayor LaMear and Councilor Herzig. 
 
Councilor Herzig thanked the public for attending, adding Council appreciates the interest, passion, and concern. 
The public must hold the City accountable. He also thanked the Library Board and Library Foundation for their 
work. He thanked the Mayor for insisting that Council move forward. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:30 pm.  
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
 
              
Finance Director City Manager  









































































































































































































 
  
     

CITY OF ASTORIA 
POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 
August 12, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: VERIZON WIRELESS LEASES 
 
DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
 
At the July 5, 2016 meeting, draft leases were presented for the Verizon Wireless project at 
Reservoir Ridge and a lease extension at Coxcomb.  Council indicated they believed the 
terms were supportable.  These leases were returned to Verizon Wireless (VZW) for inclusion 
of two items listed in the memorandum presented that night. Additionally, the Council 
nondiscrimination policy was included in the contracts. 
 
Verizon Wireless has signed the two leases with the terms presented to the Astoria City 
Council at the July 5th meeting.  In addition they have provided a right of way easement for 
Pacific Power to provide power to the facility.   
 
The leases presented then, and now for signature, are in keeping with the guidance set out 
during the March 21, 2016 work session regarding the wireless communications facility at 
Coxcomb, Staff has negotiated a new lease with Verizon Wireless (VZW) for the site at 
Reservoir Ridge.  The terms of the lease are favorable to the City in value of construction and 
use of tower for our communication needs.  For the term of the lease, there are no monthly 
payments for lease.  
 
The negotiations resulted in two leases.  These leases are for the Coxcomb and Reservoir 
Site both of which have been reviewed and approved as to form by City Attorney 
Henningsgaard.  With the previously proposed and now adopted amendments, the highlights 
of the leases are listed below. 
 
Coxcomb Site 

• Extension to the existing lease that has been in existence since 1992.  
• Extends lease from September 1, 2017 through August 31, 2018 with an opportunity to 

extend the lease for one additional year.  
• This lease is for $1,969.64 per month.  If second year is optioned the lease is 

$2028.73 per month 
• VZW is responsible for removal of tower and shelters, removal of tower footings and 

foundations 4 feet below grade.  
• VZW is responsible to restore area as specified in a to be agreed on manner. 

  



 
Reservoir Site 

• Five year lease with the option for VZW to extend four times (Total possible lease of 
25 years). 

• VZW will construct tower and two shelters. 
• VZW will transfer ownership of a shelter to City. 
• VZW will provide tower space to the City at no cost for period of lease or extensions. 
• VZW will provide a generator which meets NFPA standards 
• VZW will move all equipment from Coxcomb to the new tower with no interruption in 

service.  They will replace all existing cables, antenna, and connectors.   
• VZW will improve the road from Pipeline Road to the site with an all season roadway 
• VZW will provide the City $15,000 in consideration for maintenance of the roadway.  
• Any colocator would be required to provide $15,000 to the City in consideration for 

maintenance of the roadway.   
• All colocators would be required to seek land access leases from the City in addition to 

tower lease from VZW.  
• The City will have excess capacity in the shelter provided by VZW and may choose to 

rent space to colocators.  
• The City will receive no income from VZW in consideration for the construction, access 

to tower, providing the shelter and generator. 
 
In addition, an easement to Pacific Power is also included to provide electrical service to the 
Reservoir Ridge site.  City Attorney Henningsgaard has asked for some changes to the 
easement document including clarification where the line would be placed in the respective 
tax lots and with language regarding waiver of a right to jury trial.  Staff will work with Pacific 
Power to address these issues. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Council authorize the Mayor and City Manager to sign the leases with 
Verizon Wireless for facilities at Coxcomb and Reservoir Ridge and the Pacific Power right of 
way easement, contingent on resolution of the City Attorney’s requested changes.   
 

 
______________________________ 
Brad Johnston 
Chief of Police  
Assistant City Manager 
































































































	CC Agenda and Memo 8-15-16
	5(c) Scandinavian Park Proposal
	5(d) Waterfront Bridges Presentation
	6(a) CC Minutes 7-18-16
	6(b) CC Minutes 7-18-16 Work Session
	6(c) CC Minutes 7-25-16 Special
	6(d) Water Front Bridges Agreements
	6(e) Solid Waste Engineering
	6(f) Addition of Job Title at Police Dept
	7(a) Direction regarding Scandinavian Monument
	7(b) CoastCom Ordinance
	7(c) Verizon Wireless Leases
	7(d) Street End Bridge Repair Contract
	ADC Agenda and Memo 8-15-16
	5(a) ADC Minutes 5-16-16
	5(b) ADC Minutes 6-6-16
	5(c) ADC Minutes 6-20-16
	6(a) ADC West Plan Amendment Study



